## **Spain - Deposit Guarantee Fund (1980)**

Manuel León Hoyos<sup>1</sup> October 16, 2019

#### **Abstract**

The global oil shock in 1973-1974 occurred at a time when Spain was embarking on a liberalization of its financial system that resulted in many new entrants, particularly at the level of small and medium sized institutions. The banking crisis that followed from 1977-1985 affected 52 of the country's 110 banks, most of them of small and medium size, that together comprised over 20% of bank deposits (De Juan 2019, 18–19). Spain established a Deposit Guarantee Fund in November 1977 to provide limited deposit insurance, and in March 1978 a Banking Corporation to take control of and reorganize troubled banks. However, because the Banking Corporation lacked the legal authority to recapitalize institutions, Spain reconstituted the Deposit Guarantee Fund in 1980 with broad new powers. One key power was the ability to acquire and dispose of non-performing assets from insolvent institutions (Sheng 1996, 90–91; Malo de Molina and Martín-Aceña 2011, 232–34). During the course of the crisis, the Fund intervened in 29 banks (Sheng 1996, 91). It acquired a total of 373 billion pesetas (\$2.2 billion) in assets and bank equity. It disposed of more than 50% of bad assets within five years, but by 2000 still had a small amount of assets. By 1986, it had accumulated losses of 90 billion pesetas (Klingebiel 2000, 11, 42, 44).

**Keywords**: Spain, crisis, banks, assets, Fund, asset management company

 $<sup>^{1}\</sup> Research\ Associate,\ Yale\ Program\ on\ Financial\ Stability.\ \ manuel.leonhoyos@yale.edu$ 

## Spain – Bank Guarantee Fund (1980)

#### At a Glance

During the 1960s and early 1970s, Spain experienced strong economic growth. However, by the mid-1970s difficulties arose. The global increase in oil prices in 1973-1974 contributed to double-digit inflation in Spain. Reforms in 1971 and 1974 paved the way for swift financial liberalization without adequate regulation and supervision.

In 1977, Spain entered a banking crisis that lasted until 1985. It affected 52 of the country's 110 banks, most of them small medium and size. that together comprised over 20% of bank deposits. Spain established a Deposit Guarantee Fund, run by the Bank of Spain, in November 1977 to provide limited deposit insurance and Banking a Corporation in March 1978 to take control of and reorganize troubled banks. However, because the Banking Corporation lacked the legal authority to recapitalize institutions. Spain

#### **Summary of Key Terms**

**Purpose:** "To guarantee deposits in banking institutions in the way and to the extent that the government establishes, and also to carry out any such actions as it considers necessary to reinforce the solvency and proper functioning of the banks, in the defence of their interests of their depositors and the Fund itself." (Spain 1980)

Launch Dates	Establishment date: March 28, 1980 (Spain 1980)
Wind-down Dates	Date of Last Asset Disposal:
	Unknown. Still operating by
	2000 (Klingebiel 2000, 44)
Program Size	Not specified at outset
Usage	373 billion pesetas (\$2.2
	billion (Klingebiel 2000, 42)
Outcomes	
<b>Management Approach</b>	Disposition
Ownership Structure	Public-private hybrid
Notable features	Multiple functions carried out by one public-private entity in the face of a crisis limited to small and medium-sized banks. (Sheng 1996, 91)

reconstituted the Deposit Guarantee Fund in 1980 as an independent public agency with broad new powers. One key power was the ability to acquire and dispose of non-performing assets from insolvent institutions. During the course of the crisis, the Fund intervened in 29 banks. It acquired a total of 373 billion pesetas (\$2.2 billion) in assets, including 270 billion pesetas in assets at face value, 31 billion pesetas in real estate, and 72 billion in equity in banks. It disposed of more than 50% of non-performing assets within five years, but by 2000 still had a small amount of assets. (Klingebiel 2000, 11, 42, 44).

#### **Summary Evaluation**

There is limited evaluation of the Fund despite its central, multi-purpose role in dealing with the Spanish banking crisis (1977-1985). Observers have praised its structure and approach to dealing with the crisis, but contextual factors such as a weak legal framework for transferring titles and seizing collateral restricted its efforts at rapid asset disposal. By 1986, the Fund had accumulated losses of 90 billion pesetas (Klingebiel 2000, 12,14,44).

### Contents

I.	Overview	1
	Background	1
	Program Description	2
	Outcomes	4
II.	. Key Design Decisions	7
	1. The Deposit Guarantee Fund was a multi-purpose facility that combined purchases of non-performing assets with other types of interventions such as deposit insurance, capital injections, and guarantees.	
	2. Spain passed the Royal-Decree Law 4/1980 on March 28, 1980 to significantly expand the legal authority of the Fund, giving it the ability to purchase assets among other new powers	7
	3. Spain described the expansion of the Fund's authority as part of its efforts to prote depositors (particularly small depositors)	
	4. The Fund was governed by a Board of Directors composed half of representatives of the Bank of Spain and half of representatives of the banking industry	
	5. There was no pre-defined limit on the scope of the Fund's purchases of non-performing assets	9
	6. The Fund was funded from equal equity contributions made by the Bank of Spain and the banking industry.	9
	7. The Fund intervened in banks identified as non-viable whose shareholders did not recapitalize them.	
	8. The Fund could purchase all types of assets (shares, loans, real estate, etc.)	10
	9. The Fund determined the specific assets to purchase from insolvent banks based o negotiations with the institutions acquiring these banks	
	10. The Fund purchased assets at face value.	10
	11. The Fund's objective was to dispose of the assets purchased as fast as possible, while maximizing their recovery value.	11
	12. The Fund had no pre-established sunset date	11
H	I. Evaluation	11
IV	7. References	13
V.	Key Program Documents	13
	Summary of Program	13
	Legal/Regulatory Guidance	13
	Press Releases/Announcements	13
	Media Stories	14

## PRELIMINARY YPFS DISCUSSION DRAFT | MARCH 2020

Key Academic Papers	14
Reports/Assessments	14
VI. Appendices	15
Appendix A: Spain Macroeconomic Indicators: 1970-1989	15
Appendix B: Legislation Timeline	16
Appendix C: Deposit Guarantee Fund control and subscription of new values	17

#### I. Overview

### **Background**

During the 1960s and early 1970s, Spain experienced strong economic growth. Annual GDP growth averaged 7% from 1961 to 1974.<sup>2</sup> However, in the mid-1970s, developments emerged that ultimately brought this period of rapid economic expansion to a halt. The global increase in oil prices in 1973-1974 contributed to double-digit inflation in Spain. The death of Francisco Franco in 1975 accelerated the political transformation from dictatorship to democracy. Additionally, reforms in 1971 and 1974 paved the way for a swift financial liberalization in the Spanish banking system. These reforms facilitated the opening of new branches and deregulated deposit interest rates and multiple lending rates (De Juan 2019, 18–19; Sheng 1996, 87–89).

Between 1973 and 1983, bank offices more than tripled, with significant growth in the number of small and medium-sized institutions. Employment in the banking sector increased from 150,000 in 1975 to over 180,000 in 1980. This expansion came with regulation and supervision that were seen as inadequate. And while the banking sector grew more innovative and complex, a number of the new entrants lacked banking experience, and in some cases, ethical standards (Sheng 1996, 89–90).

In 1977, problems in the Spanish banking system, composed of 110 banks, became noticeable. A number of insolvent banks characterized their problems as temporary liquidity problems. The Bank of Spain, as lender of last resort, dealt with liquidity problems using its rediscount facility, but identified that in many cases, these liquidity problems masked solvency issues. Failed banks had typically breached limits on exposure to related parties or single entities. (De Juan 2019, 21–22; Sheng 1996, 87)

The Bank of Spain lacked experience in dealing with banks in crisis, which made it difficult to identify bank losses accurately. The small group of examiners performed supervision primarily on regulatory compliance (De Juan 2019, 21). At the same time, the Bank of Spain had no ability to sanction wrongdoers, and had no means, nor the legal powers to prevent a bank failure (Sheng 1996, 87).

In November of 1977, as a first response to the escalating problems in the banking sector, the Spanish legislature created the Deposit Guarantee Fund (Fund), administered as an account within the Bank of Spain.<sup>3</sup> It provided deposit insurance for up to 500,000 pesetas.<sup>4</sup> It was funded equally by the Bank of Spain and banks, who each contributed 0.1% of all bank deposits. These funds, however, could only be used to return funds to depositors after a bank was closed (Sheng 1996, 90). In January 1978, Spain passed legislation that allowed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Appendix A: Macroeconomic indicators (1970-1989) for GDP growth, inflation, and exchange rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Appendix B for legislation timeline during the Spanish Banking crisis (1977-1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Approximately \$6,500 at the time. For Spain / U.S. historical foreign exchange rates, check: https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/EXSPUS

Fund, for reasons of public interest and with a three-fourths approval, to use the funds when a distressed bank was in danger of insolvency, rather than wait for the bank's liquidation (Spain 1978).

In March 1978, the Bank of Spain created a public-private management company called the Banking Corporation (Corporación Bancaria S.A.) to complement the deposit insurance scheme of the Fund. The Corporation would be a resolution authority: it would take over, clean up and sell banks in crisis (Sheng 1996, 90). The Corporation started with a fund of 500 million pesetas, which came from equal contributions by the Bank of Spain and the banking industry (Malo de Molina and Martín-Aceña 2011, 233). If the existing shareholders were unwilling or unable to recapitalize a bank, the Corporation gained ownership and eventual management rights of the bank by buying a controlling interest of shares for one peseta—a symbolic price—per share (Sheng 1996, 90). It then sought a buyer for the bank. The Bank of Spain required this intervention as a condition for accessing its newly created liquidity facility (De Juan 2019, 22). The first bank intervention by the Corporation occurred in March 1978 (Seminario 1984, 43).

However, the Corporation lacked the legal authority to recapitalize insolvent institutions and struggled to sell "rehabilitated" banks. The Corporation did not close until many years later due to legal battles. In 1980, the Spanish government reconstituted the Deposit Guarantee Fund as a separate legal entity and granted it legal powers to intervene and "rehabilitate" banks in a crisis. Unlike the Corporation, the government gave the Fund the power to inject capital and to purchase and manage non-performing assets (Sheng 1996, 87–88; Malo de Molina and Martín-Aceña 2011, 233–34).

## **Program Description**

In March of 1980, the passage of Royal Decree-Law 4/1980 reconstituted the Fund as a public body governed by the rules of private law (Spain 1980). The enhanced Fund combined the deposit guarantee scheme with the management activities previously performed by the Corporation, but now with increased legal powers. Initially, it was independent from the Corporation but later the Fund acquired the Corporation's working teams (Malo de Molina and Martín-Aceña 2011, 234). More specifically, beyond deposit insurance, the Fund was now empowered "... to carry out any such actions as it considers necessary to reinforce the solvency and proper functioning of the banks, in the defence of their interests of their depositors and the Fund itself" (Spain 1980). The Fund became known as the "Bank Hospital" (De Juan 2019, 22).

The new powers enabled the Fund to recapitalize a distressed bank, make it viable, and sell it to another bank within a year. The Fund could gain bank ownership, extend credit to banks at any rate or in any form, acquire all types of assets (shares, loans, real estate, etc.) at book value, provide guarantees to acquiring banks, absorb losses to restore solvency, and recapitalize banks and nonbanks. While the Bank of Spain continued to provide emergency liquidity as lender of last resort, it was through the Fund that insolvency problems were addressed (De Juan 2019, 22–24).

The Board of Directors of the newly constituted Fund followed the model adopted by the Corporation, with eight members—half from the Bank of Spain and half from the banking industry. The Deputy Governor of the Bank of Spain served as the chair and would cast the decisive vote in the event of a tie (De Juan 2019, 23–24). The Secretary General of the Fund acted as the executive director and managed a staff of 120 employees at its peak (Klingebiel 2000, 40).

Contributions to the Fund remained equally distributed between the Bank of Spain and the banking industry. Bank's contributions ranged from 0.1% to 0.3% of deposits. Legislation also authorized the Bank of Spain to make long-term loans to the Fund at the rediscount rate, and with no limit (De Juan 2019, 23).

The Fund closely coordinated its operations with the Bank of Spain. In providing initial liquidity support to troubled banks, the Bank of Spain would evaluate their viability. Those banks identified as needing additional capital would be asked to have their shareholders provide capital. Banks whose shareholders were unwilling or unable to provide that capital were then presented with a choice—transfer control of the banks to the Fund at a nominal price, or face the loss of liquidity support from the Bank of Spain and the protection of the Fund's deposit insurance (Sheng 1996, 91–92).

Once the Fund gained majority ownership via this mechanism, a new management would come in and clean up the bank. The Fund would force the banks' directors to resign. If they refused to resign, the Fund fired them directly after gaining control of the bank. In all cases, the Fund recruited new executives from the market, appointed a new Board, and restructured management (De Juan 2019, 83). The newly appointed management would introduce administrative reforms and enhance operational efficiency. The Fund's interventions rested on the assumption that banks would remain viable even after the Fund concluded its support (Sheng 1996, 92). The Fund would then implement a financial package to attract a buyer.

The main measure that the Fund took to attract buyers was to acquire a bank's non-performing assets at face value. In doing so, the Fund absorbed substantial losses that typically exceeded the bank's capital (De Juan 2019, 83). The Fund purchased the non-performing assets of the insolvent banks at face value because Spanish authorities considered it impossible to agree on a market price (De Juan 2019, 83). The Fund would end up purchasing a large portion of non-performing assets, which it could sell even after the Fund released control of the bank (Sheng 1996, 93).

After a bank was "rehabilitated," the Fund prepared to sell it to a "healthy" bank that could meet the qualifications and solvency requirements. By law, the offer had to be adequately publicized and occur within a year after the Fund gained control of the bank (De Juan 2019, 24). If a suitable buyer appeared right away, the Fund would try to sell the bank immediately with the intention to avert any further loss of confidence in the bank and depletion of their capital base. In some cases, an external accounting firm would conduct a comprehensive audit and identify potential buyers (Sheng 1996, 93).

The Fund, together with the Bank of Spain arranged a prospectus for the sale of a troubled bank with a deadline for bids. The prospectus would be sent to selected domestic and foreign

banks and included the maximum value of and specific conditions in which bad assets could be carved out by the Fund. This turned out to be a key issue in negotiations between the Fund and potential buyers. The offer also outlined the specifics on the support to be provided by the Fund and the Bank of Spain (e.g. subsidized interest rates, regulatory forbearance, guarantees against "hidden liabilities," etc.). Potential buyers could make counterproposals, which the Fund Board of Directors would review. Buyers were required to renounce any future claims or legal actions against the Fund that would result from differences between expected and realized asset returns. Lastly, the Board would communicate to the Ministry of Finance the offer chosen. Then, the Ministry had fifteen days to exercise its option to purchase the shares when the national interest was a concern. This two-stage mechanism provided checks and balances to the restructuring efforts (Sheng 1996, 93).

As for the loans that the Fund could not sell to the new investors of a bank, sale of mortgage loans and real estate were most successful (Klingebiel 2000, 44). In every instance, the Fund tried to minimize losses by maximizing recovery of assets acquired at face value, and by repossessing any guarantees collected as collateral for nonperforming loans (Sheng 1996, 96).

#### **Outcomes**

The Spanish banking crisis of 1977-1985 affected 52 of the country's 110 banks, most of them of small and medium size, that together comprised over 20% of bank deposits (De Juan 2019, 19). Of all the banks affected by the crisis, 90% were established between 1973 and 1978. None of the banks established during the financial liberalization of the 1970s survived as an independent bank (Sheng 1996, 89). By 1985, 85% of total deposits were held by eight banking groups (Sheng 1996, 91). The seven largest Spanish banks were minimally affected by the crisis and together with the Spanish Bankers' Association, established in 1977, assisted in resolving almost all of the small failed banks, although under considerable pressure from the government (Sheng 1996, 95).

Figure 1: Banks Affected by the Crisis, 1978-1985

YEAR	NUMBER OF BANKS TREATED	DEPOSITS & CREDITS IN MILLION DOLLARS (1)			NUMBER OF ACCOUNTS (IN	NUMBER OF BRANCHES	STAFF
		DEPOSITORS	CREDITORS	TOTAL	THOUSANDS)	Dioliteries	
1978	4	245	145	390	185	120	1,977
1979	2	214	51	265	201	61	1,026
1980	9	1,361	325	1,686	775	371	6,553
1981	4	564	294	858	362	151	2,143
1982	11	3,415	872	4,287	1,829	726	10,761
1983	21	4,859	1,686	6,545	1,946	1,193	13,204
1984	1	270	16	286	110	33	625
TOTAL	52	10,928	3,389	14,317	5,408	2,655	36.289 (2)

(1) AT 175 PESETAS - 1 DOLLAR (1984 RATE)

(2) 100.000 A PPROXIMATELY, INCLUDING STAFF IN NON-FINANCIAL SUBSIDIARIES

Source: de Juan 2019.

Three small banks were liquidated. The Fund intervened in 29 banks with assets amounting to 1% of the financial system. Spain dealt with 20 banks related to the "politically sensitive" Rumasa industrial conglomerate outside of the Fund, though a special nationalization and reprivatization program in 1983 (Klingebiel 2000, 14; Sheng 1996, 91).<sup>5</sup>

By law, the Fund had to release control of a bank within a year of takeover, encouraging quick resolution and resale. By 1985, 22 banks were sold to domestic banks and 5 to foreign banks (Sheng 1996, 88). Banks restructured by the Fund were sold after an average of 13 months, including the 20 banks of the Rumasa group. Many cases were resolved within six months (Sheng 1996, 91; De Juan 2019, 83). Initially, Spanish domestic banks were not interested in acquiring the "rehabilitated" banks. However, after the Fund sold two banks to foreign institutions, Spanish banks—in light of foreign competition—were incentivized to buy banks from the Fund, even by absorbing short-term losses in some cases (Sheng 1996, 95; Klingebiel 2000, 14). None of the banks sold by the Fund suffered a relapse (De Juan 2019, 83).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In 1983, the Rumasa group of more than 200 industrial companies and 20 banks of small and medium size was nationalized instead of being rehabilitated via the Fund. The case was politically sensitive, in part because the Rumasa group employed over 50,000 people. The financial resources required to rescue Rumasa would have greatly exceeded the Fund's capacity: the companies were highly leveraged and the banks exhibited negative capital of 21 billion pesetas (\$146 billion). Spanish authorities viewed intervening on Rumasa's banks via the Fund as likely to trigger the failure of its industrial companies. However, they rejected any Fund assistance for Rumasa's non-bank companies as inappropriate to the Fund's mission (Sheng 1996, 93–94).

Figure 2: Bank Interventions by Deposit Guarantee Fund, 1978-1985

Bank	Date of initial intervention	Date of sale	Buyer
Navarra	January 1978	_	Closed for liquidation (May 1978)
Cantabrico	February 1978	July 1980	Banco Exterior de Espana
Meridional	April 1978	July 1981	Banco de Vizcaya
Valladolid	December 1978	March 1981	Barclays Bank
Granada	January 1979	December 1980	Banco Central
Credito Comercial	January 1979	January 1980	Banco de Vizcaya
Asturias	February 1980	November 1980	Banca March
Lopez Quesada	April 1980	June 1981	Banque Nationale de Paris
Promocion de Negocios	April 1980	November 1981	Banco de Bilbao
Catalan de Desarrollo	May 1980	May 1980	Banco Espanol de Credito
Industrial del Mediterrano	July 1980	January 1981	Banca Catalana
Occidental	July 1981	July 1982	Banco de Vizcaya
Comercial Occidental	July 1981	July 1982	Banco de Vizcaya
Descuento	November 1981	July 1983	BCC1 Holding (Luxembourg)
Pirineos	December 1981		Closed for liquidation (December 1981)
Union	March 1982	April 1982	Banco Hispano Americano
Prestamo y Ahorro	March 1982	April 1982	Banco de Vizcaya
Mas Sarda	March 1982	April 1982	Banco de Bilbao
Levante	October 1982	July 1983	Citibank/Banco Zaragozano
Catalana	November 1982	May 1983	Group of fourteen banks
Industrial de Cataluna	November 1982	May 1983	Group of fourteen banks
Industrial del Mediterraneo	November 1982	May 1983	Group of fourteen banks
Barcelona	November 1982	May 1983	Group of fourteen banks
Gerona	November 1982	May 1983	Banca March
Alicante	November 1982	May 1983	Banco Exterior de Espana
Credito e Inversiones	November 1982	May 1983	Banco Central
Simeon	December 1983	4	Banco Exterior de Espana
Urquijo-Union	July 1985	•	Banco Hispano Americano
Finanzas	September 1985	*	The Chase Manhatran Bank

<sup>—</sup> Not applicable.

**Note**: Interventions from 1978 until March 1980 were performed by the Corporation (Corporación Bancaria S.A.). **Source**: (Sheng 1996).

In all instances, bank shareholders took the first losses by losing their equity. Depositors only experienced losses when the three small banks were liquidated. Losses absorbed by the Fund after taking control of banks were split equally among the Bank of Spain and the banking industry. Contributions from the banks totaled 0.12% of liabilities per year (10% of annual profits). By the end of 1984, these contributions reached only \$0.5 billion, significantly less than the total losses incurred by the Fund. Therefore, the Bank of Spain had to lend an additional \$2.9 billion to the Fund through long-term loans at a 7.25% annual interest rate (Sheng 1996, 94).

The Fund would restructure the banks with the objective to sell them. To clean up the banks, the Fund acquired in total 373 billion pesetas in assets: 72% non-performing assets, 8% real estate, and 19% equity in banks. The Fund continued with the asset purchases through 1985, and in line with the rapid asset disposition objective, disposed of more than 50% of them within five years. By 1986, it registered losses of 25.7 billion pesetas for cleaning up the banks and a cumulative 90 billion pesetas of overall losses. By 2000, the Fund only held a small fraction of the assets it had acquired (Klingebiel 2000, 11, 14, 42, 44).

a. The fund did not arrange these rescues, but it did collaborate in the financial reorganization. Source: Deposit Guarantee Fund; Cuervo 1988.

### II. Key Design Decisions

1. The Deposit Guarantee Fund was a multi-purpose facility that combined purchases of non-performing assets with other types of interventions such as deposit insurance, capital injections, and guarantees.

Two early attempts by the Spanish government to address the banking crisis that emerged in 1977—the initial establishment of the Deposit Guarantee Fund merely as a deposit insurance provider and the establishment of the Banking Corporation in 1978 to take control of troubled banks—addressed liquidity problems but could not solve underlying solvency issues. Spain therefore decided to significantly expand the legal authority of the Fund to include the ability to purchase assets, inject capital, and provide guarantees so that these tools could be used in tandem to rehabilitate failed banks.

2. Spain passed the Royal-Decree Law 4/1980 on March 28, 1980 to significantly expand the legal authority of the Fund, giving it the ability to purchase assets among other new powers.

In March of 1980, the passage of Royal Decree-Law 4/1980 established the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Banking Institutions as a public body governed by the rules of private law and significantly expanded its authority (Spain 1980). The enhanced Fund combined the deposit guarantee scheme with the management function performed up until this point by the Banking Corporation, but now with increased legal powers. The Fund became known as the "Bank Hospital" (De Juan 2019, 22).

3. Spain described the expansion of the Fund's authority as part of its efforts to protect depositors (particularly small depositors).

The stated purpose of the Fund as expanded was "to guarantee the deposits held in banking institutions in the way and to the extent that the government establishes, and also to carry out any such actions as it considers necessary to reinforce the solvency and proper functioning of the banks, in the defence of their interests of their depositors and of the Fund itself" (Spain 1980).

4. The Fund was governed by a Board of Directors composed half of representatives of the Bank of Spain and half of representatives of the banking industry.

The Board of Directors consisted of eight members – four bankers of acknowledged standing and four Directors from the Bank of Spain. The Deputy Governor of the Bank of Spain served as chair and cast the decisive vote in a tie. The four bankers served in their individual capacities and not in representation of their banks. They were proposed by the Bank of Spain and appointed by the Ministry of Economy (De Juan 2019, 24).

The operations of the Fund were closely coordinated with the Bank of Spain, especially in the initial and final stages of a bank intervention (Sheng 1996, 91).

The responsibilities of the Board of Directors of the Fund included:

a) Informing and advising the Bank of Spain on the Fund's operations;

#### PRELIMINARY YPFS DISCUSSION DRAFT | MARCH 2020

- b) Preparing and approving the Fund's financial statements, and requesting advances from the Bank of Spain to the Fund when necessary;
- c) Notifying the Bank of Spain which banks experienced financial difficulties that could require Fund intervention;
- d) Determining the form of payment of annual premiums contributed by the banks;
- e) Stipulating the requirements for admitting new banks to the Fund, and informing of any changes in membership;
- Requesting external audits of member banks and determining the frequency and extent of these audits, and if necessary requesting external audits of associated companies;
- g) Suspending payment of deposit guarantees to any depositor directly associated with the financial troubles of a bank;
- h) Authorizing asset purchases from banks in crisis, explicitly limiting further involvement of the Fund, and without precluding requests to the bank management to take further remedial actions (Sheng 1996, 96).

The Fund consisted of three departments: Legal, Administration and Control, and Asset Management. The Legal Department could start legal or criminal action against former administrators of banks the Fund intervened on or temporarily controlled. It also served as legal counsel for the other departments (Sheng 1996, 96).

The Department of Administration and Control oversaw internal matters of the Fund and of the banks controlled by the Fund. It was responsible for the recovery of claims, maintaining timely records, and servicing obligations of fixed assets (e.g. property taxes). The Department coordinated the sale of assets and bank reprivatizations with the other Departments. It prepared the Fund's annual budget and financial plan, and requested advances from the Bank of Spain to the Fund when necessary (Sheng 1996, 96).

The Asset Management Department administered the sale of assets owned by the Fund that are not directly related to banking. It assessed their financial viability, minimized any additional financial commitments, and attempted to sell the best assets as fast as possible. The Department appraised, or subcontracted appraisal of, the fixed assets of the Fund. It also focused on improving the least attractive assets while it searched for buyers. (Sheng 1996, 96)

#### 5. There was no pre-defined limit on the scope of the Fund's purchases of nonperforming assets.

## 6. The Fund was funded from equal equity contributions made by the Bank of Spain and the banking industry.

The Fund's funding came half from the Bank of Spain and half from the banking industry, with annual contributions equal to between 0.1% and 0.3% of all bank deposits of member banks (De Juan 2019, 23). Initially, annual contributions were set at 0.1% (Spain 1980). By law, the Bank of Spain could make long-term loans to the Fund at the rediscount rate, with no limit (De Juan 2019, 23). Contributions from the banks totaled 0.12% of liabilities per year (10% of annual profits). By the end of 1984, these contributions reached only \$0.5 billion, significantly less than the total losses absorbed. Therefore, the Bank of Spain had to lend \$2.9 billion to the Fund through long-term loans at a 7.25% annual interest rate (Sheng 1996, 94).

## 7. The Fund intervened in banks identified as non-viable whose shareholders did not recapitalize them.

Typically, the Bank of Spain would provide initial liquidity support to struggling banks and in doing so determine the viability of the recipients. In some cases, the Bank of Spain determined that a bank would be viable if remedial actions were taken, and agreed to a plan of action. In other cases, the central bank identified and assessed the extent of insolvency and demanded recapitalization by existing shareholders with the threat that the Fund would take control unless such recapitalization occurred. The Bank of Spain allowed Fund appraisers to be involved in the assessments so the Fund could be better prepared to tackle specific problems, even before acquiring full control of the bank (Sheng 1996, 91–92).

Insolvent banks were pressured to recapitalize or give control to the Fund. Banks whose shareholders were unwilling to recapitalize them could stop receiving liquidity support from the Bank of Spain and even lose their license to operate. The General Corporate Law was amended to reduce the quorum of shareholders necessary to approve recapitalizations. This allowed the Fund to expedite the process of interventions in insolvent banks (Sheng 1996, 92).

The Fund gained control of a bank at a shareholders meeting, which had to be convened within seven days of the Bank of Spain requesting it. The Bank of Spain would inform shareholders of the scope of the problems the institution faced, such as the extent of losses and the effect of write-offs on bank capital and reserves. If the bank had no capital and its shareholders were unwilling to recapitalize it, they had to "volunteer" to sell capital to the Fund for a symbolic price of one peseta per share. This price could be more if the bank's capital was not fully depleted or if shareholders were "innocent" and deserved protections (Malo de Molina and Martín-Aceña 2011, 234; Sheng 1996, 92). A process called the "accordion operation" consisted of first, an erosion or dilution of shares held by former shareholders, followed by recapitalization provided by the Fund, with the fund taking majority ownership (De Juan 2019, 82). It served two purposes: to amortize potential bank losses and to penalize shareholders by significantly diluting or writing off their participation

(De Juan 2019, 25). In some instances, the Fund gained control only after applying the accordion operation to the holding company (Sheng 1996, 92).

The government directly nationalized the politically sensitive Rumasa group, rather than use the Fund. The group included 20 of the 52 banks affected by the crisis (Klingebiel 2000, 14).

#### 8. The Fund could purchase all types of assets (shares, loans, real estate, etc.).

The Fund was authorized to act on a broad scale and perform a variety of actions it deemed necessary. It could gain bank ownership, extend credit to banks at any rate or in any form, acquire all types of assets (shares, loans, real estate, etc.) at book value, provide guarantees to acquiring banks, absorb losses to restore solvency, and recapitalize banks and nonbanks (De Juan 2019, 24).

## 9. The Fund determined the specific assets to purchase from insolvent banks based on negotiations with the institutions acquiring these banks.

The Fund, together with the Bank of Spain, arranged a prospectus for the sale of a troubled bank with a set deadline for bids. The prospectus would be sent to selected domestic and foreign banks and included the maximum value of and specific conditions in which bad assets could be carved out by the Fund. This turned out to be the key issue in recurrent negotiations between the Fund and potential buyers.

The offer also outlined the specifics on the support provided by the Fund and the Bank of Spain (e.g. subsidized interest rates, regulatory forbearance, guarantees against "hidden liabilities," etc.). Potential buyers could make counterproposals, which the Fund Board of Directors would review. Buyers were required to renounce any future claims or legal actions against the Fund that would result from differences between expected and realized asset returns. Lastly, the Board would communicate to the Ministry of Finance the offer chosen. Then, the Ministry had fifteen days to exercise its option to purchase the shares when the national interest was a concern. This two-stage mechanism provided checks and balances to the restructuring efforts (Sheng 1996, 93).

#### 10. The Fund purchased assets at face value.

The Fund purchased the non-performing assets of the insolvent banks at book value—that is, at the nominal value of loans less provisions—because Spanish authorities deemed it impossible to determine a market price. In doing so, the Fund absorbed any related losses. As those losses were typically greater than a bank's equity, this policy was the main restructuring measure that the Fund adopted. According to the former head of the Fund, "the share capital increases carried out were intended for recapitalization and were insufficient for this purpose" (De Juan 2019, 83). Overall, real estate and other asset purchases accounted for about 80% of Fund transactions and equity purchases accounted for 20%. The 24 restructured banks C had initial capital of 56 billion pesetas; they wrote off 40 billion pesetas on bad loans, and received 71 billion in capital from the government (see Appendix C). In comparison, the Fund spent more than 300 billion pesetas to acquire non-performing assets and real estate in order to facilitate transactions with acquiring banks.

## 11. The Fund's objective was to dispose of the assets purchased as fast as possible, while maximizing their recovery value.

In terms of asset management, the main goal of the Fund was to dispose of the assets purchased as fast as possible while maximizing their recovery value (Klingebiel 2000, 11). By law, the Fund had to release control of the banks in which it intervened within a year, but the assets acquired could be sold beyond that timeframe (Sheng 1996, 88).

The Fund sold assets including (a) stock holdings of the Fund in firms or holding companies or liquidations; (b) real estate; (c) securities; and (d) loans. As for the loans that the Fund could not sell to the new investors of a bank, sale of mortgage loans and real estate were the most successful (Klingebiel 2000, 44).

#### 12. The Fund had no pre-established sunset date.

#### III. Evaluation

There is limited evaluation of the Fund despite its central, multi-purpose role in dealing with the Spanish banking crisis (1977-1985). The institutional reforms adopted in Spain to deal with the banking crisis evolved rapidly as financial conditions deteriorated. Although the authorities initially underestimated the extent and depth of the banking crisis and provided only limited deposit guarantees, they soon developed an approach to resolving individual bank failures that Andrew Sheng, a former World Bank official, has characterized as "fair, flexible, and pragmatic" (Sheng 1996, 91, 95). Sheng points to the Fund's private-public structure and close relationship with the Bank of Spain as having "mitigated the likelihood of bureaucratization and politicization and fostered a public perception of fairness." Moreover, Sheng argues that the separation of the problems of the Rumasa group from the scope of Fund intervention indicates they were realistic in assessing the appropriate limits of the Fund's capabilities (Sheng 1996, 91, 95). The Fund focused on smaller banks, which were "politically easier" to resolve than the banks in the Rumasa group, according to Daniela Klingebiel, another World Bank official (Klingebiel 2000, 17).

Klingebiel has argued that the Fund was established with appropriate funds and appropriate powers. She says it was relatively successful compared to asset management companies established in other countries because it had a targeted mission: to dispose of assets as fast as possible while maximizing the recovery value of the assets. She also notes that the extent of non-performing loans in the Spanish banking system—under 10%—was relatively limited compared to other banking crises (Klingebiel 2000, 10). However, there were several challenges associated with the Fund's operations. The Spanish framework for foreclosures and seizures of collateral was inadequate and hampered the rapid sale of assets. Additionally, the Fund encountered problems with transfer of titles and there was lackluster demand for real estate assets. Despite succeeding in selling 26 banks, the Fund was much less successful in achieving its aim of "rapid disposal of bad assets" that had been carved out from banks' balance sheets. This difficulty occurred in the context of a generally benign macro-environment and increasing real estate prices (Klingebiel 2000, 12, 14).

#### PRELIMINARY YPFS DISCUSSION DRAFT | MARCH 2020

In the opinion of Aristóbulo de Juan, former CEO of the Fund and the Corporation, the Fund played a leading and effective role in resolving the majority of bank problems in Spain. He has pointed to several features that he believes were critical to its operations, including the contribution of private-sector entities to the cost of the rescues and the transfer of assets at face value to avoid the technical and litigation-related challenges that an appraisal-based approach would involve (De Juan 2019, 84–85).

#### IV. References

- De Juan, Aristóbulo. 2019. From Good to Bad Bankers. Lessons Learned from a 50-Year Career in Banking. Madrid, Spain: Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-11551-7.
- Klingebiel, Daniela. 2000. "The Use of Asset Management Companies in the Resolution of Banking Crises. Cross-Country Experience." Washington, DC: World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/887671468760186237/pdf/multipage.pdf.
- Malo de Molina, José Luis, and Pablo Martín-Aceña. 2011. *The Spanish Financial System: Growth and Development since 1900.* Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1057%2F9780230361140.
- Seminario, Universidad Internacional Menéndez Pelayo. 1984. *Crisis bancarias, soluciones comparadas: Seminario desarrollado en la Universidad Internacional Menéndez Pelayo. Santander, julio 1983*. Asociación Española de Banca Privada (AEB).
- Sheng, Andrew. 1996. *Bank Restructuring: Lessons from the 1980s*. Washington, DC: World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/533291468766518413/pdf/multipage.pdf.
- Spain. 1978. "Royal Decree 54/1978. Real Decreto 54/1978, de 16 de enero, por el que se modifica el Real Decreto 3048/1977, de 11 de noviembre, por el que se crea el «Fondo de Garantía de Depósitos en Establecimientos Bancarios»." Official Journal of the State. https://www.boe.es/buscar/doc.php?id=BOE-A-1978-1333.
- ——. 1980. "Royal-Decree Law 4/1980 of March 28th, Granting the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Banking Institutions Legal Personality, and Other Auxiliary Measures." Fondo de Garantía de Depósitos de Entídades de Crédito. http://www.fgd.es/en/decreto4\_1980.html.

## V. Key Program Documents

## **Summary of Program**

### Legal/Regulatory Guidance

Spain. 1980. "Royal-Decree Law 4/1980 of March 28th, Granting the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Banking Institutions Legal Personality, and other Auxiliary Measures." Fondo de Garantía de Depósitos de Entídades de Crédito.

www.fgd.es/en/decreto4\_1980.html

## **Press Releases/Announcements**

#### **Media Stories**

El Pais. 1980. "Aprobado un Nuevo Mecanismo de Salvación en Bancos en Crisis." March 29, 1980, Front page. Madrid.

#### **Key Academic Papers**

- Cuervo, Alvaro. 1988. La crisis bancaria en España: 1977-1985: causas, sistemas de tratamiento y coste. Ariel.
- De Juan, Aristóbulo. 2019. From Good to Bad Bankers. Lessons Learned from a 50-Year Career in Banking. Madrid, Spain: Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-11551-7
- Klingebiel, Daniela. 2000. "The Use of Asset Management Companies in the Resolution of Banking Crises. Cross-Country Experience." Washington, DC: World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/887671468760186237/pdf/multipage.pdf
- Malo de Molina, José Luis, and Pablo Martín-Aceña. 2011. *The Spanish Financial System: Growth and Development since 1900.* Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1057%2F9780230361140
- Sheng, Andrew. 1996. *Bank Restructuring: Lessons from the 1980s*. Washington, DC: World Bank.

  http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/533291468766518413/pdf/multipage.pdf

## **Reports/Assessments**

Seminario, Universidad Internacional Menéndez Pelayo. 1984. *Crisis bancarias, soluciones comparadas: Seminario desarrollado en la Universidad Internacional Menéndez Pelayo. Santander, julio 1983*. Asociación Española de Banca Privada (AEB).

#### **Appendices** VI.

## **Appendix A: Spain Macroeconomic Indicators: 1970-1989**

Table 5.1 Macroeconomic indicators, 1970-89

(percent unless otherwise specified)

Year	Real growth in GDP	Current account/GDP	Terms of trade (1980=100) <sup>2</sup>	Inflation rate <sup>b</sup>	General government financial balance/GDP	Bank nominal interest rate c	Exchange rate (pesetas/U.S. dollar)
1970	4.1	2.2	153.1	5.7	0.7	n.a.	70.0
1971	4.6	2.0	159.8	8.2	<b>-0</b> .6	n.a.	69.4
1972	8.0	1.1	155.8	8.3	-0.2	n.a.	64.2
1973	7.7	0.8	146.4	11.4	0.8	n.a.	58.2
1974	5.1	-3.6	108.2	15.7	-0.3	n.a.	57.6
1975	0.5	-3.3	117.9	16.9	-0.5	n.a.	57.4
1976	3.3	-3.9	114.0	14.9	-1.0	n.a.	66.9
1977	3.0	-1.6	108.0	2 <del>4</del> .5	-1.3	14.0	<i>7</i> 5.9
1978	1.4	1.1	114.9	19.8	-2.3	15.0	76.6
1979	-0.1	0.6	114.7	15.7	-2.1	15.7	67.1
1980	1.2	-2.4	100.0	15.6	-2.5	17.1	71.7
1981	-0.2	-2.6	85.1	14.5	-3.8	16.7	92.3
1982	1.2	-2.4	91.3	14.4	-5. <del>4</del>	16.4	109.8
1983	1.8	-1.6	86.8	12.2	<b>-4</b> .6	16.7	143.4
1984	1.8	1.3	89.3	11.3	-5.3	16.9	160.
1985	2.3	1.7	89.8	8.8	-6.9	15.8	170.0
1986	3.3	1.7	104.6	8.8	-6.0	14.6	140.0
1987	5.5	0.0	98.3	5.3	-3.2	15.7	123.4
1988	5.0	-1.1	103.0	4.8	-3.3	15.3	116.4
1989	4.8	-2.9	105.5	6.8	-2.8	16.3	118.3

a. Ratio of the index of average export prices to the index of average import prices.

b. Consumer price index.

c. Does not include regulated or special rates for private banks. Rates are averages of selected rates for commercial discounts, credits, and loans.

Source: IMF and World Bank data; Bank of Spain.

## **Appendix B: Legislation Timeline**

	Legislation Timeline					
Date	Law	Purpose				
Aug/09/1974		Bank reforms of 1974 lead to liberalization of the banking indust The new measures facilitated opening new banks. Deposit intererates and many lending rates were deregulated.				
Nov/11/1977	Royal Decree 3048/1977	The Deposit Guarantee Fund is created. It was merely a deposit insurance for up to 500,000 pesetas (\$6,500 at the time).				
Jan/16/1978	Royal Decree 54/1978	The Fund was able to anticipate funds for banks facing problems, for reasons of public interest and with a vote of 3/4 of the Board. Therefore, the Fund does not have to wait for insolvency.				
Mar/01/1978		The Banking Corporation (Corporación Bancaria S.A.) is created. It was a private management company owned equally with the private banks, introduced to handle banks in crisis. The fund was 500 million pesetas (\$6.5 million). Equal contributions from the banking industry and Bank of Spain.				
Mar/06/1978	Decree-Law 5/1978	The Bank of Spain is authorized to temporarily suspend the executive/administration of a bank. It was applied to: Asturias, Promoción de Negocios, Occidental y Comercial Occidental, which were sold to other bank institutions soon after being intervened.				
Mar/28/1980	Royal Decree- Law 4/1980	The Deposit Guarantee Fund for Banking Institutions is institutionalized as a public body governed by the rules of private law. The Fund combined the management functions carried out by the Corporation with the deposit guarantee function.  The insured deposits increase from 500,000 pesetas to 750,000 pesetas.				
	Royal Decree 567/1980					
Jun/13/1981	Royal Decree 1.620/1981	Insured deposits increase from 750,000 to 1,500,000 pesetas. The ceiling for the Bank of Spain to make contributions to the Fund is removed.				
Sep/24/1982	Royal Decree- Law 18/1982	The Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Cooperatives is created. Both the Fund for Credit Cooperatives and Savings Banks are given legal powers similar to the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Banking Institutions.  It is established that if the Bank of Spain anticipates contributions to the Fund for more than four times the amount given by the banks, then the Bank of Spain could increase the banks' percentage of annual contributions from 0.1% to up to 0.2%.				
	Royal Decree- Law 2/1983	Nationalization (expropriation) of the Rumasa group—20 banks				

# Appendix C: Deposit Guarantee Fund control and subscription of new values

Annex 5.2 Deposit Guarantee Fund control and subscription of new values (millions of pesetas)

Bank	Means of acquisition	Initial capital	Writeoffi against capital value	Capital increase	Final capital	Capital increase/ initial capital
Cantabrico	1 pesera per share	764	267	795	1,292	1.04
Meridional	1 peseta per share	1,125	1,012	1,102	1,125	0.90
Valladolid	1 peseta per share, plus 700 million pesetas to cancel debt of previous owners	2,200	1,100	4,400	5,500	2.00
Granada	1 peseta per share	2,247	786	3,054	4,515	1.36
Credito Comercial	Controlled through its holding bank:	776	0	0	776	0.00
Asturias	_	936	468	936	1,404	1.00
Lopez Quesada	_	1,621	810	3,100	3,911	1.91
Promocion de Negocios	_	1,444	722	1,444	2,166	1.00
Catalan de Desarrollo	_	2,625	2,625	3,000	3,000	1.14
Industrial Mediterraneo	_	2,100	1,050	2,500	3,550	1.19
Occidental	1 peseta per share	4,630	4.621	7,000	7,009	1.51
Comercial Occidental	Controlled through its holding banks	1,625	1,621	500	504	0.31
Descuento	1 peseta per share	2,250	2,245	2,500	2,505	1.11
Union	50 percent of the nominal price of each share	7,723	0	0	7,723	0.00
Prestamo y Ahorro	Controlled through its holding banks	2,256	2,233	1,500	1,523	0.66
Mas Sarda	_	2,283	1,529	3,000	3,754	1.31
Levante	1 peseta per share	1,992	1,990	5,500	5,502	2.76
Catalana	_	5,754	5,748	15,344	15,350	2.67
Industrial de Cataluna	Controlled through its holding banks	4,258	4,254	4,500	4,504	1.06
Industrial del Mediterraneo	Controlled through its holding banks	3,550	3,543	3,500	3,507	1.00
Barcelona	Controlled through its holding banks	568	567	1,137	1,138	2.00
Gerona	Controlled through its holding banks	397	0	0	397	0.00
Alicante	Controlled through its holding banks	1,594	1,592	2,500	2,502	1.57
Credito e Inversiones	1 peseta per share, controlled through holding banks	1,595	1,592	3,500	3,503	2.19

Not applicable.

Source: Deposit: Guarantee Fund; Larrain and Montes-Negret 1986; author's calculations.

Source: (Sheng 1996, 97)